
LICENSING COMMITTEE
Tuesday 10 March 2020 at 7.30 pm

Council Chamber - Civic Centre

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

Councillors’ declarations of interest (if any) in relation to any matters on 
the agenda.

3. Minutes  (Pages 2 - 4)

4. Matters Arising  

5. Written Questions and Petitions  

6. Committee Work Plan  (Page 5)

7. Private Hire Operator Conditions and the Provisions of Adapted Vehicles 
(Subject to National Guidance)  (Pages 6 - 11)

8. Electronic Payment of Fares in Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Vehicles - Outcome of Consultation  (Pages 12 - 45)

9. Updated Licensing Committee Terms of Reference  (Pages 46 - 51)

10. References from Other Committees  

Any references arising from meetings held after the publication of this 
agenda will be circulated separately.

11. Matters of Urgent Business  

Such other business which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be 
received as a matter of urgency by reason of special circumstances to be 
specified in the minutes.

Public Document Pack



MINUTES OF THE LICENSING COMMITTEE
HELD ON

21 January 2020 7.30  - 7.55 pm

PRESENT

Committee Members
Councillor Frances Mason (Chair)
Councillor Shannon Jezzard (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Nick Churchill
Councillor Maggie Hulcoop
Councillor Andrew Johnson

Officers
Chris Bennett, Principal Environmental Health Officer
Hannah Criddle, Governance Support Officer
Michael Pitt, Environment and Licensing Manager
Dimple Roopchand, Principal Solicitor

30. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Michael Garnett, 
Tony Hall and Lanie Shears. 

31. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

None. 

32. MINUTES

a) Minute 25 - Committee Work Plan

In response to Councillor Churchill’s question regarding the work plan, 
Councillor Mason confirmed that the advice received from Governance 
was that the preference is for the whole year to be included on the work 
plan so the pathway for each item could be followed.  

b) Minute 26 - Harlow Council Food Safety Enforcement Plan 2019/20

The Committee noted that Michael Pitt, Environment and Licensing 
Manager, circulated a note to provide an explanation on what the risk 
categories A to E represent. 

2

Agenda Item 3



33. MATTERS ARISING 

Michael Pitt advised the Committee that the consultation on electronic 
payment of fares in Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles had gone 
live. Consultation finishes on 14 February 2020.  

34. WRITTEN QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS 

Councillor Mason confirmed a petition had been received on electronic 
payment in Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles. It did not have 
enough signatures to trigger the petitions procedure, however, the number 
of signatures had been considered as significant for the matter. The 
petition would therefore be considered as part of the consultation which 
had gone live. The Council had written to the lead petitioner to confirm 
this. 

35. COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 

The Committee noted that Electronic Payment of Fares in Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles – Outcome of Consultation needs to be 
added to the work plan for the committee on 10 March 2020. 

Michael Pitt advised the Committee that updated Licensing Committee 
Terms of Reference would be brought to the next meeting for 
recommendation to Full Council. 

36. CONSIDERATIONS REGARDING CCTV IN HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND 
PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES 

The Committee received a report on an overview of matters relevant to 
any licensing requirements regarding the use of CCTV in Hackney 
Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles. Councillor Johnson requested further 
details on the estimated prices provided in paragraphs 24 and 25. 

RESOLVED that: 

A The Committee noted the report.

B A further report would be presented to the Committee following 
the publication of guidance arising from the Department for 
Transport’s consultation “Taxi and Private Hire Vehicles 
Licensing: Protection of Users, Statutory Guidance for 
Licensing”. 

37. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES 

None. 

3



38. MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS 

None. 

CHAIR OF THE COMMITTEE

4



                                                                                                                                    

 

Licensing Committee Work Plan 2019/20

Tuesday 9 July 2019 Tuesday 10 September 
2019

Tuesday 19 November 
2019

Tuesday 21 January 
2020

Tuesday 10 March 2020

Licensing Sub Committee 
Decisions 2018/19

Institute of Licensing 
Guidance on suitability of 
applicants for PH and HC 

Licensing 

Harlow Council Food 
Safety Enforcement Plan 

2019/2020

Considerations regarding 
CCTV in Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire 
Vehicles 

Private Hire Operator 
Conditions and the 

Provision of Adapted 
Vehicles (Subject to 
National Guidance)

Licensing Team 
Enforcement Activity 

2018/19
 

Electronic Payment of 
Fares in Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire 
Vehicles

Electronic Payment of 
Fares in Hackney 

Carriage and Private Hire 
Vehicles – Outcome of 

Consultation 
Private Hire Operator 
Licensing Procedure

Updated Licensing 
Committee Terms of 

Reference

5

A
genda Item

 6



 
 

REPORT TO: 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 

DATE: 
 

10 MARCH 2020  

TITLE: 
 

WHEELCHAIR ACCESSIBILITY IN THE LICENSED 
FLEET 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND LICENSING 
MANAGER (01279) 446114 

 
CONTRIBUTING OFFICER: 
 

 
CHRIS BENNETT, PRINCIPAL ENVIRONMENTAL 
HEALTH OFFICER (01279) 446113 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The Licensing Team work with the trade, as set out under proposals at paragraph 14 of 

the report, to support good practice in the operation of designated Wheelchair 
Accessible Vehicles (WAVs) and better promote information about their availability. 

 
B  A further report be brought to Licensing Committee examining the merits of a formal 

survey of unmet need for WAVs in Harlow at a time when revised central government 
guidance on licensing of the Hackney carriage and private hire trades is available.   

 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. Further to a resolution at the Licensing Committee meeting of 12 March 2019 the 

Licensing Team has carried out research into readily available evidence around how 
well needs for wheelchair accessible Private Hire and Hackney Carriage vehicles are 
met in Harlow. The detail and findings of this research are set out below.   
 

2. The Equality Act 2010 places duties on drivers of designated Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire vehicles to transport disabled people in safety.  The Council maintains a list 
of designated vehicles which can be seen at paragraph 8 of the report.  

 
3. Drivers of designated vehicles must: 

 
a) Carry the passenger while in the wheelchair 

 
b) Not to make any additional charge for doing so 

 
c) If the passenger chooses to sit in a passenger seat, carry the wheelchair 

 
d) Take such steps as are necessary to ensure that the passenger is carried in safety 

and reasonable comfort 
 

e) Give the passenger such mobility assistance as is reasonably required. 
 
CURRENT POSITION 
 
4. A Task and Finish Group, on behalf of the Department for Transport, has considered 

the adequacy of licensing authorities’ current powers to protect public safety when 
licensing taxis and private hire vehicles. This group made a number of 
recommendations for change, amongst which was the introduction of statutory 

6

Agenda Item 7



 
 

guidance, to which Licensing Authorities would be required to have regard, on 
applying conditions to licences.  Such guidance might be expected to strengthen 
conditions in some cases, and to improve consistency between authorities. 
 

5. Further to these recommendations by the Task and Finish Group, The Department 
for Transport issued a consultation paper in February 2019 with more detail about 
proposed statutory guidance. The outcome of this consultation has not yet been 
published, the Department for Transport had been expected to publish in early 2020. 
 

6. In February 2019 the Government published “Moving Britain Ahead”, a response 
setting out its position on 34 recommendations identified by a Task and Finish Group.  
Of the 34 recommendations several are made in relation to accessibility.   
 

7. The first recommendation is made in relation to mandatory disability awareness and 
equality training.  The Council does require all licensed drivers to undergo disability 
awareness training.  This has been a requirement since 2016.    The Licensing Team 
has undertaken a review of the training provider for the 20/21 financial year.  A new 
provider has been sourced and the next training session is being organised for June 
2020.  The training course will contain a new module to cover ‘equality training’.  The 
Council is then ahead of any potential requirement to mandate this training.  In 
addition to this, all new Hackney Carriage drivers are mandated to attend a 
wheelchair assessment course as part of their driver assessment. 
 

8. The second recommendation is in relation to providing a list of designated WAVs in 

compliance with s. 167 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
9. On 21 November 2017 the Licensing Committee resolved that the Council would 

formally designate wheelchair accessible vehicles.  The Council maintains a list of 

designated vehicles, available at the following web address: 

https://www.harlow.gov.uk/streets-and-travel/travel/taxis/wheelchair-accessible-

vehicles 

10. The Council is then already compliant with this recommendation. 

 

11. A further recommendation is made in relation to local authorities that have low levels 

of Wheelchair Accessible Vehicles (WAVs) in their licensed fleet.   

 
12. In relation to this recommendation ‘low levels’ is not defined, however, the Licensing 

Team have compared the Harlow numbers against the national averages.  The 

Department for Transport statistics, published in March 2019, identified that in 

England 58.4 per cent of all Hackney Carriages and 2.2 per cent of all Private Hire 

vehicles are wheelchair accessible.  Therefore, the overall percentage of WAVs 

across both trades is 15.76 per cent. 

 
13. In Harlow we have 307 licensed vehicles.  65 of these are Hackney Carriages and 

242 are Private Hire vehicles. 

 
14. Of the 65 Hackney carriages 100 per cent are designated as wheelchair accessible. 

Clearly, this figure is well above the national average. 

 

7

https://www.harlow.gov.uk/streets-and-travel/travel/taxis/wheelchair-accessible-vehicles
https://www.harlow.gov.uk/streets-and-travel/travel/taxis/wheelchair-accessible-vehicles


 
 

15. Of the 242 Private Hire vehicles only one is currently designated as wheelchair 

accessible which equates to 0.4 per cent.  This figure is lower than the national 

average.  If Harlow had five (an increase of four vehicles) Private Hire vehicles that 

were designated as wheelchair accessible then this would equate to 2.1 per cent of 

the overall Private Hire trade.  This would then be more comparable with the national 

average figure for the Private Hire trade. 

 
16. However, the overall percentage of WAVs across both trades is 21.5 per cent.  This 

is above the national average.   

 
17. In relation to better balance across the overall fleet the Government response to the 

Task and Finish Group findings highlights that Transport for London has commented 

on the difficulty in achieving a mixed private hire fleet, as vehicles are often licensed 

by individuals rather that private hire vehicle operators to whom a quota might be 

more easily applied.  The Local Government Association also noted that there may 

be practical and legal barriers to mandating minimum WAV numbers. 

 
18. There is currently no centrally issued statutory or best practice guidance available to 

support local authorities in increasing the numbers of WAVs within the licensed fleet.  

There is the risk of successful legal challenge if conditions are imposed on operators.  

Any condition applied in relation to WAVs made in accord with national guidance is 

likely to withstand most legal challenges:  a scheme devised locally would need to be 

defended on its merits and is likely to be at a higher risk of successful challenge. 

STAKEHOLDER RESEARCH AND FINDINGS 

19. There are further considerations in relation to how well needs are met besides the 

overall numbers of designated vehicles. To better understand such issues the 

Licensing Team have consulted with the following stakeholders: 

 

a) The trade, including both major private hire operators in Harlow 

 

b) Nightingale Disabled Transport Ltd; (This business is based in North Weald, 

Essex and is licensed as a private hire operator with its own fleet of four fully 

wheelchair accessible vehicles. They can take nearly all types of wheelchair, with 

the possible exception of certain types of bariatric wheelchairs. They are 

approved by Essex County Council and have done work for Princess Alexandra 

Hospital (PAH).  They operate 7 days a week.  They provide a personal service 

that gives individual assistance for wheelchair users: for example, they will take 

patients straight on to a ward at PAH) 

 
c) Princess Alexandra Hospital discharge unit 

 
d) Resident who had used hackney carriages to transport a disabled relative 

 
e) Customer online reviews of hackney carriage booking portals 

 
f) Harlow Council community engagement officers 

 

8



 
 

g) Epping Forest and Harlow Community Transport 

 
h) Rainbow Services 

 
i) Leah Manning Centre 

 
j) Harlow Mobility retail unit 

 
k) Harlow stroke support group. 

13. The key findings of this research are: 

a) Hackney Carriage vehicles are adapted to carry standard reference wheelchairs 

but larger wheelchairs and some electric wheelchairs may be difficult to transport 

safely and in reasonable comfort.  For example, it would not be possible to 

anchor a wheelchair properly in a ‘sideways’ orientation. Some wheelchair users 

have preferences in terms of how a vehicle is loaded. All Harlow Hackney 

Carriage vehicles load by a side door with the use of ramps, while other types of 

vehicle are rear loading with the use of solid ramps, an electric  lift, or  an electric 

winch.  The one private hire vehicle in Harlow that is a WAV is rear loading with 

an electric lift and is capable of carrying several passengers in addition to the 

wheelchair user 

 

b) Wheelchair users may have difficulty pre-booking Hackney Carriage vehicles as 

they do not have an ‘operator’ as such. The designated list of WAV that the 

Council publishes meets the requirements of the law but does not help users 

contact a suitable Hackney Carriage driver or any ‘circuits’ of cooperating drivers 

 
c) There may be wheelchair users that do not have sufficient funds to undertake any 

form of taxi or Private Hire journey. Addressing this finding is beyond the scope of 

this report 

 
d) There may be wheelchair users that are reluctant to book taxi and Private Hire 

vehicles through concern about being unable to reliably book a journey home 

 
e) The Licensing Team has not received any recent complaints in relation to lack of 

or the operation of WAVs 

 
f) Quantifying any unmet demand accurately is likely to require external expertise in 

the form of an independent transport consultancy firm.  Initial soundings suggest 

that a robust survey of unmet demand which would include consultation with the 

public and all relevant stakeholders such as community groups can be carried out 

within an estimated budget figure of up to £8,000. 

PROPOSALS 

14. There is some evidence that best practice is not being used by all drivers of 

designated WAVs. The Licensing Team will contact all drivers of designated WAVs to 

re-emphasise their responsibilities with regard to carrying people with disabilities.  

This will include information on the legal requirements and recommended practice in 

9



 
 

terms of loading wheelchair users and safely securing wheelchairs.  The Licensing 

Team will also work with the trade to make more information available, on a voluntary 

basis, about contact details for hackney carriage drivers to assist the public in 

identifying and pre-booking journeys with suitable WAVs.  Where available the 

information should include details of the size and weight of wheelchair that can be 

accommodated, and whether wheelchairs that are larger than a “reference 

wheelchair” can be accommodated. 

15. The Licensing Team will obtain independent legal advice in relation to whether it 

could, if it were considered desirable, use conditions to require private hire operators 

to provide a minimum per cent/ratio of WAVs.  Advice will also be sought on whether 

the Council can incentivise the use of WAVs, perhaps by way of a reduced vehicle 

licence fee for designated Private Hire vehicles. 

16. In the absence of guidance on intervening in the market by way of licence conditions, 

and in the light of the expectation that revised guidance on licensing of private hire 

and hackney carriage trades is expected in the near future, it is proposed to defer 

any expenditure on a formal survey regarding unmet need until such revised 

guidance is published.  

   

IMPLICATIONS 
 
Environment and Planning (Includes Sustainability) 
As set out in the report.  
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Head of Environment and Planning 
 
Finance (Includes ICT, and Property and Facilities) 
As set out in the report.  
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Chief Executive 
 
Housing 
None specific.  
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 

Any practicable steps the Council can take to identify and address unmet need are 
expected to be of benefit to wheelchair users, as confidence in the ability to travel 
can prevent exclusion. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 

Whilst awaiting further Government guidance, the Council must have due regard to 
its public sector equality duty to ensure that any decision made is proportionate for 
the local community. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
Appendices 
 
None 
 

10



 
 

Background Papers 
 
Government Response; Report of the Task and Finish Group on Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Licensing; Moving Britain Ahead; February 2019 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_da
ta/file/847315/taxi-task-and-finish-gov-repsonse.pdf 
 
Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing: Protecting Users; Statutory Guidance for Licensing 
Authorities; February 2019- consultation version 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_da
ta/file/778274/taxi-phv-licensing-protecting-users-condoc.pdf 
 
Access for wheelchair users to taxis and private hire vehicles 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-for-wheelchair-users-to-taxis-and-
private-hire-vehicles 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 
WAV -  Wheelchair Accessible Vehicle 
 
 

 
 

11

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/847315/taxi-task-and-finish-gov-repsonse.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/847315/taxi-task-and-finish-gov-repsonse.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/778274/taxi-phv-licensing-protecting-users-condoc.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/778274/taxi-phv-licensing-protecting-users-condoc.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-for-wheelchair-users-to-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/access-for-wheelchair-users-to-taxis-and-private-hire-vehicles


 
 

REPORT TO: 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 

DATE: 
 

10 MARCH 2020  

TITLE: 
 

ELECTRONIC PAYMENT OF FARES IN 
LICENSED VEHICLES – OUTCOME OF 
CONSULTATION 
 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND LICENSING 
MANAGER (01279) 446114 

 
CONTRIBUTING OFFICER: 
 

 
CHRIS BENNETT, PRINCIPAL ENVIRONMENTAL 
HEALTH (01279) 446113 

 
RECOMMENDED that: 
 
A The Licensing Committee recommend to Full Council that a condition be 

attached to Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licences to require that Hackney 
Carriage Vehicles be equipped with electronic payment facilities as set out in 
Proposals at paragraphs 6 to 13. 

 
B  Subject to A, authority to approve the details of the condition be delegated to the 

Environment and Licensing Manager, in consultation with the Chair of the 
Licensing Committee. 

 
BACKGROUND 
 
1. Further to a resolution at the Licensing Committee meeting of 19 November 

2019 the Licensing Team has carried out a consultation with the Hackney 
Carriage trade and travelling public regarding the Council requiring that a 
suitable form of electronic fare payment be available for all journeys. A copy of 
the committee report from 19 November 2019 is attached as Appendix A to the 
report. 

 

2. The detail of the consultation was agreed by the Environment and Licensing 

Manager, in consultation with the Chair of Licensing Committee.  A copy of the 

consultation document is attached as Appendix B to the report. 

 CONSULTATION METHODOLOGY 

3. The consultation ran from 20 January 2020 to 14 February 2020. 
 

4. The Council consulted in the following ways: 
 
a) On 16 January 2020 the Licensing Team sent a letter to the home address 

of all of the Hackney Carriage drivers.  This letter enclosed a paper copy 
of the consultation questionnaire. 
 

12

Agenda Item 8



 
 

b) On 20 January 2020 the consultation went live on the Harlow Council 
consultation web page.  This provided the public and trade with a 
mechanism to submit responses online. 

 
c) On 20 January 2020 the consultation went live on the Councils Facebook 

page. 
 
d) Twice during the consultation period the Councils Communication Team 

sent a tweet regarding the consultation. 
 
e) On 20 January 2020 the Licensing Team sent an email to Rainbow 

Services who agreed that the consultation questionnaire would be sent on 
to local community groups. 

 
f) On 22 January 2020 the Licensing Team sent an email to all Private Hire 

operators/Private Hire Trade representatives and Unite (the Union that 
represents some of the Hackney Carriage trade). 

 
g) On 30 January 2020 ‘Your Harlow’ published an article on the consultation 

with a link to the online questionnaire.   
 
h) On 10 February 2020 the Licensing Team sent an email to Hackney 

Carriage drivers reminding them of the consultation deadline and a link to 
the Harlow Council web page to submit an online response. 

 
 CONSULTATION RESULTS 

5. There were a total of 168 responses of which 157 were received electronically 
and 11 were on paper.  The responses to each question are set out below.  

 
6. Q1. Are you? 
 

 
 

19% 
2% 

77% 

2% 

A member of the hackney carriage taxi trade

A member of the private hire trade

A member of the public

Someone else

13



 
 

7. A total of 129 (77%) of respondents were members of the public, 33 (19%) 
responses were from the hackney carriage trade, 3 (2%) from the private hire 
trade and 3 (2%) from someone else which included a taxi industry support 
worker. 
 

8. In Harlow there are currently 65 licensed Hackney Carriage vehicles (or drivers).  
Thus, the 33 responses from the Hackney Carriage trade that were received 
equates to a 51% response from the trade.  

  
9. Q2. Please indicate your age category 
 

 
 
10. The majority (84%) of the respondents were in the 26 to 65 age categories.  

Representations were received from across all age categories. 
 
11. Q3. Do you think that all licensed taxis (London-style black cabs) in Harlow 

should have to offer passengers the option of paying by credit or debit 
card? 

 

 
 

7% 

23% 

26% 

23% 

12% 

5% 
3% 1% 

16-25 26-35 36-45 46-55 56-65 66-70 71+ Do not wish to give information

89% 

11% 

Yes No

14



 
 

12. A total of 149 (89%) of respondents were in favour of Hackney Carriage taxis 
offering passengers the option to pay by credit or debit card. 

 
13. Of the 33 responses submitted by the Hackney Carriage trade a total of 18 (55%) 

were in favour and 15 (45%) were not in favour of offering passengers the option 
to pay by card.  

 
14. The Committee will wish to be aware that a petition opposing any compulsory 

implementation of electronic fare payment, signed by 36 Hackney Carriage 
drivers was received on 6 January 2020 from Mr C Holding as lead signatory. 
The text of the petition was as follows: ‘Please find enclosed a list of Hackney 
Carriage drivers who are opposed to the compulsory implementation of electronic 
fare payment.’   

 
15. Q4. When do you think any potential new requirement should be 

introduced? 
 

 
 
16. The majority of the public responses would like to see any potential new 

requirement introduced with immediate effect.   
 
17. A total of 14 out of 18 (78%) of the Hackney Carriage drivers that are in favour of 

introducing such a condition would like it introduced immediately or by a three 
month period. 

 
18. Q5. Should all taxis accept contactless payments in addition to Chip and 

PIN? 
 

64% 

16% 

7% 

4% 
1% 

8% 

With immediate effect 3 month period before taking effect

6 month period before taking effect During 2021

During 2022 2023 or later

15



 
 

 
 
19. The majority of the responses (84%) would like to see all taxis accept contactless 

payments in addition to Chip and PIN.   
 
20. A total of 18 (100%) of the Hackney Carriage drivers that are in favour of 

introducing a card mandate condition agree that taxis should accept contactless 
payments in addition to chip and pin.   

 
21. Q6.  Should other methods, in addition to Chip and PIN and contactless, of 

accepting card payments be available in taxis?    
 

 
 
22. Of the 30% of respondents that specified that other methods should be available 

the majority specified smart phone based methods of payment.  The most 
popular method (17 responses) was apple pay.  Other phone based apps that 
were stated include:  google pay, pay pal and android pay. 

 
23. 70% of respondents did not think that other methods should be available or they 

had no opinion. 
 

84% 

11% 

5% 

Yes No No opinion

30% 

21% 

49% 

Yes No No opinion

16



 
 

24. One respondent mentioned a system called ‘Corporate Telecard Sales’. 
 
25. A total of 12 respondents specified that cash should still be a method available.  

The Council is clear that the proposal to mandate card payment is in addition to 
paying by cash and not a replacement.   

 
26. A copy of all of the responses can be seen at Appendix C to the report.  
 
27. Q7. Should the card payment devices in taxis be fixed in one position in the 

vehicle? 
 

 
 
28. 29% of respondents (48 responses) believed that card payment devices should 

be fixed in one position in the vehicle.   
 
29. Only 1 (6%) of the Hackney Carriage drivers that are in favour of offering 

passengers the option to pay by card agreed that the device should be fitted in 
one position. 

 
30. Q7a. Please specify where using the options below 
 
 

 
 
31. A total of 35 respondents (21% of all responses received) specified that the card 

payment device should be fitted in the passenger compartment.   
  

29% 

35% 

36% 

Yes No No opinion

62% 

7% 

13% 

18% 

Passenger compartment Driver compartment

Either compartment No opinion

17



 
 

32. Q8. Should other cards, in addition to MasterCard and Visa, be accepted?   
 

 
 
33. 30% of respondents (50 responses) specified that alternative cards should be 

accepted.  Details of the responses can be seen at Appendix D to the report. Of 
the 50 responses a total of 30 (60%) specifically mention American Express (also 
known as Amex).  Other card names such as Monzo / Maestro / travel cash cards 
were only mentioned once each.  A few respondents specified ‘all major cards’ or 
something similar. 

  
34. Q9. Do you think signs should be displayed on the vehicle that identify that 

card payments are accepted? 
 

 
 
35. 89% of respondents (149 responses) think that signs should be displayed on the 

vehicle that identify that card payments are accepted. 
 

30% 

18% 

52% 

Yes No No opinion

89% 

6% 
5% 

Yes No No opinion

18



 
 

36. Of the 18 responses from the Hackney Carriage trade that are in favour of 
introducing such a condition a total of 14 (78%) also think that signs should be 
displayed on the vehicle that identify that card payments are accepted. 

 
37. Q10. Do you think that electronic printed receipts should be provided?   
 

 
 
38. A total of 61% of respondents (103 responses) think that electronic printed 

receipts should be provided.   
 
39. Of the 18 responses from the Hackney Carriage trade that are in favour of 

introducing an electronic payment condition only 1 (5.5%) agrees that electronic 
receipts should be provided, a further 3 (16.5%) had no opinion.  The remaining 
14 responses (78%) do not think that electronic receipts should be provided. 

 
40. Q11. Should other methods of providing a receipt be made available? Such 

as email receipts or hand written receipts? 
 

 
 

61% 

22% 

17% 

Yes No No opinion

70% 

13% 

17% 

Yes No No opinion

19



 
 

41. A total of 70% (117 responses) agree that other methods of providing a receipt 
should be made available.   

  
42. Of the 18 responses from the Hackney Carriage trade that are in favour of 

introducing a card payment condition 17 (94%) agree that other methods of 
providing receipts should be made available.  The remaining Hackney Carriage 
driver had ‘no opinion’ on this.   

 
43. Q12. Do you think there should be any exemptions from any potential card 

payment mandate? 
 
 

 
 
 
44. Only 5% of respondents (9 people) felt there should be exemptions from the card 

mandate. 
 
45. Of the 18 responses from the Hackney Carriage trade that are in support of a 

card condition a total of 15 (83%) believed that there should be no exemptions.  2 
of the remaining responses had no opinion and 1 replied ‘yes’ there should be an 
exemption. 

  
46. Respondents were asked to specify the reasons why they felt there should be 

exemptions.  The responses can be seen in Appendix E to the report.  There are 
no clear exemptions specified.   

 
47. Q13. Please indicate how often you use taxis (London-style black cabs) 
 

5% 

57% 

38% 

Yes No No opinion

20



 
 

 
 
48. A total of 62% (99 respondents) replied that they use taxis on a regular basis i.e. 

daily / weekly / monthly. 
  
49. Q14 If you are a licensed driver then it would be useful to know what 

equipment you currently use? 
 
50. A copy of all of the responses received can be seen at Appendix E to the report. 

It is noted that only three different types of card reader were specified by the 
trade.  A few drivers reported that they had more than one device.  A total of 12 
drivers are using a ‘paypal’ system, 11 are using a ‘sum-up’ system and four are 
using the ‘izettle’ system.   

 
51. Q15 Please use the box below to make any relevant comments regarding 

the proposal. 
 
52. A copy of all 69 comments received from both the public and the trade can be 

seen at Appendix F to the report.  
 
PROPOSALS 
 
53. It is proposed that, subject to Committee decision, a requirement for a means of 

electronic payment for Hackney Carriage fares be made as set out below: 
 
Timescales 
 
54. It is proposed that there be a three month implementation period for the 

introduction of the new Hackney Carriage vehicle condition.  The condition will 
only apply to new vehicle licences and renewals thus, it will take a full 12 month 
period for all vehicles to go through a licence renewal.  The Licensing Team 
would write to all Hackney Carriage drivers with any update on vehicle conditions. 

 
 
 

2% 5% 

26% 

31% 

36% 

More than once a day Daily

Weekly Monthly

Less often than monthly

21



 
 

 
 
Contactless payments / cards accepted / other payment methods 
 
55. It is proposed that the Council will publish a list of approved card readers that the 

Harlow Hackney Carriage Trade will be permitted to use.  Transport for London 
(TfL) have published a list of 16 different providers that they have approved for 
their Hackney Carriage trade.  This list includes the Paypal, Sum Up and Izettle 
systems that some of our drivers have already specified that they are using.   
 

56. These three systems offer contactless payment, and in addition to mastercard 
and visa payments customers can also pay by American Express and phone 
payment methods such as Apple Pay.  

 
57. It is suggested that these three systems are approved as a minimum and that the 

Licensing Team will consider the other 13 TfL approved providers and any 
additional provider that may be proposed by the trade to check their availability 
for Harlow vehicles and their compatibility with any potential Harlow condition. 

 
Position of card payment equipment 
 
58. It is proposed that there will be no requirement to fix a card reader in one 

position.   
 
Signage 
 
59. It is proposed that signage will be a requirement and as a minimum stickers are 

applied to both rear passenger door windows and with at least one further sticker 
clearly visible within the passenger compartment.  It is proposed that the stickers 
will be provided free of charge to the trade and that the cost of this is met from 
within existing Council budgets. 

 
Receipts 
 
60. It is proposed that drivers will have to provide a receipt on request.  It is proposed 

that there will be no mandate to provide portable printers and that drivers can 
chose to offer email, text, printed, hand written or equivalent receipts.  The 
receipt must include date, vehicle registration, vehicle licence number, drivers 
licence number and the amount (£). 

 
Exemptions 
 
61. No exemptions are proposed.  At the annual vehicle licensing inspection a card 

reader from the approved list must be available and in an operational condition.  
  
CONCLUSIONS 
 
62. It is clear that there is a high level of support from the public in relation to such a 

mandate.  There is a clear split of opinion amongst the trade.  The public support, 
together with the comments provided by the public, might offer encouragement to 

22



 
 

the Hackney Carriage drivers that are opposed as in general terms it might 
benefit business to offer a service or facility that customers value.  Making 
electronic payment a requirement would also offer consistency and a ‘level 
playing field’ across the fleet. 

 
63. There are benefits to mandating card payments in terms of public safety, further 

information was contained within 19 November 2019 Committee report. 
 
64. The approach set out under Proposals above is calculated to offer the benefits of 

electronic payment whilst minimising the cost and inconvenience to the trade of 
compliance.  

 
 
IMPLICATIONS 
 
Environment and Planning (Includes Sustainability) 
As set out in the report.  
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Head of Environment and Planning 
 
Finance (Includes ICT, and Property and Facilities) 
None specific.  
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Chief Executive 
 
Housing 
None specific.  
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing 
 
Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion) 
Knowledge that all Hackney Carriages take cashless payments may increase 
confidence to travel and reduce the risk that members of the public choose 
potentially less safe ways of making journeys. 
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing 
 
Governance (Includes HR) 
Due regard should be given to the outcome of the consultation. Any decision should 
be proportionate, considering the potential cost of implementing the proposal. 
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix A - Committee report dated 19 November 2019 
Appendix B- Consultation questionnaire 
Appendix C- Response to consultation question 6a 
Appendix D - Response to consultation question 8a 
Appendix E - Response to consultation question 12a 
Appendix F - Response to consultation question 14 
Appendix G - Response to consultation question 15 
 
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used 
 

23



 
 

TfL – Transport for London 
 

24



REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE

DATE: 19 NOVEMBER 2019

TITLE: ELECTRONIC PAYMENT OF FARES IN 
LICENSED VEHICLES

LEAD OFFICER: MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND 
LICENSING MANAGER (01279) 446114

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER: CHRIS BENNETT, PRINCIPAL 
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICER 
(01279) 446113

RECOMMENDED that:  

A The Committee approve consultation with the Hackney Carriage trade and 
travelling public the proposal that the Council require that a suitable form of 
electronic fare payment be available for all journeys.

B Subject to A, authority to approve the details of consultation be delegated to 
the Environment and Licensing Manager, in consultation with the Chair of the 
Licensing Committee.

BACKGROUND

1. The Council licenses Hackney Carriage Vehicles under the provisions of the 
Town Police Clauses Act 1847 and The Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976, and licenses Private Hire vehicles under provisions in 
the latter. Conditions may be attached to Hackney Carriage vehicle licenses, 
and to the licences of Private Hire vehicles operators and drivers. Bye laws 
can be made to regulate the conduct of Hackney Carriage drivers. The 
primary purpose of both licensing regimes is public safety.

2. Private Hire vehicles may only carry passengers who have booked their 
journey through an Operator. A Hackney Carriage need have no Operator 
and can “ply for hire” (be hailed in the street) and “wait on a Hackney 
Carriage stand” (use a taxi rank). There are currently three taxi ranks in 
Harlow; the Playhouse, Terminus Street and Harlow Town railway station.  
 

3. Rank etiquette requires that the vehicle at the front of the rank takes the next 
available fare. When a Hackney Carriage driver is approached at a rank, the 
driver is to take that person to the destination requested.

25



4. Electronic payment for everyday purchases is increasingly common and 
many travellers find it more convenient than cash. Further, it might be 
supposed that some potential customers of Hackney Carriage or Private Hire 
services, happening to be without cash at a time when they wished to make a 
journey, might perceive that they could not pay electronically and therefore 
might choose to walk or use some other option that might be less safe than a 
licensed vehicle. There is a case that this could make such potential 
customers more vulnerable than they need be. 

5. Officers have, at the request of the Committee, considered whether there is 
sufficient case to ensure that electronic payment can be used for all journeys 
in licensed vehicles and some of the practical issues that might arise in that 
case.

ISSUES / PROPOSALS

6. Officers have sought information from licensing authorities elsewhere that 
have made electronic payment a licensing requirement. Transport for London 
(TfL) have, after considerable work, set out detailed requirements. It appears 
that outside London, only Liverpool, Reading and Guilford have made a 
requirement of this kind.    

7. Officers have taken some soundings within the licensed trades. It appears 
that approximately a third of the Hackney Carriage trade accept fares 
electronically, and of those that do not, many prefer not to do and have some 
concerns about the additional cost of equipment and processing fees that 
might be charged. At times accommodating a passenger without cash at a 
rank can be confusing and cause some disarray, as that passenger would not 
always be able to take the first Hackney Carriage waiting at the rank and 
would have to ask each until they found one willing to take them. It might 
arise that there were no Hackney Carriages at a rank who would take 
electronic payment, in which case there is a potential concern that the 
passenger would walk or find another less safe way of completing their 
journey.    

      
8. In the case of Private Hire journeys, the contract to travel is made in advance 

with the Operator and the passenger in has wider choice. If the operator 
selected first is not willing to provide a vehicle equipped to take fares 
electronically, another operator can be chosen. In many cases operators are 
able to accept cash less fares by telephone at the point of booking, even 
when the driver is not equipped to take cash less fares. While operators 
generally appear positive about a requirement on drivers to take fares 
electronically, anecdotally many drivers are more reluctant. This may be due 
in one case to the understanding that it might benefit business while 
enforcement of availability would become a Council responsibility and, on the 
other, to concern about equipment and transaction costs. 

26



9. Enforcement of a licensing requirement for electronic payment raises a 
number of issues. In the case of Hackney Carriages, conditions may be 
placed on the vehicle licence, but drivers’ licences may have no conditions. 
Outside London, while it might be reasonably straightforward to require that a 
cashless device be present, requiring the driver to use it might be more 
challenging. Making replacement bylaws which are to be approved by a 
minister is less straightforward and more costly than applying conditions 
which would lie within Council control. Arguably a vehicle condition would 
require any device to be fixed safely within to the vehicle, which may increase 
the costs involved, exclude the simplest and cheapest systems, and reduce 
flexibility. If proprietors are required to provide equipment, proprietors of 
multiple vehicles potentially could face considerable costs.

10.Whilst it might appear straightforward to adopt wholesale the rules and 
requirements introduced by TfL, the Council should be aware that licensing in 
London has a different basis in law than outside London. Furthermore, TfL 
have done considerable research and understand the reasons behind their 
requirements. Adopting them wholesale without research is likely to lead to 
unintended consequences and possibly costs. It is the case, for example, that 
TfL require the capability to issue printed receipts. This restricts the type of 
device that may be used and significantly increases cost, possibly without a 
strong justification in the Harlow market. 

11. If payment devices were to become a vehicle requirement, they would 
become part of the compliance testing requirements and this would place an 
additional burden on the test station, of which they were not aware when 
tendering for the contract. Whilst the Council would wish to be sure that 
transactions were safe and low risk, it would be prudent to ensure that any 
testing requirements were as straightforward as possible.

12. If payment devices were to become driver licensing requirement, checking 
compliance would become a new burden for the Licensing team, which has 
limited staff resources.

13.Any condition imposed is subject to appeal by licensees, and whilst the 
Council will defend its position if necessary, so the Council would wish to be 
sure that its proposals were no more contentious than necessary, and that it 
could demonstrate that conditions were reasonably necessary.

14.Considering the issues outlined above, it appears that there is a reasonable 
public safety case for ensuring electronic payment can be taken universally 
by the Hackney Carriage trade in Harlow, and that the case in respect of 
Private Hire trade is less easy to defend. Further, there is a strong case for 
consulting the trade formally before imposing any requirements to ensure that 
any contention is minimised by avoiding unnecessary costs and operational 

27



difficulties which should help the trade in implementing any proposals, and 
minimise the risk of any challenge.  

15.Following consultation, a further report will be presented to the Committee 
setting out the outcome of consultation with recommendations regarding the 
way forward with electronic fare payment. Consideration of a requirement for 
electronic fare payment in the Private Hire Trade will therefore be deferred 
pending the outcome of the consultation. 

IMPLICATIONS

Environment and Planning (includes Sustainability)
As set out in the report. 
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Head of Environment and Planning

Finance (Includes ICT)
None specific. 
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Chief Executive

Housing
None specific. 
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing

Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion)
Reducing barriers to safe modes of transport where practicable will assist 
community safety objectives.
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing

Governance (includes HR)
The report only commits the council to consultation at this stage therefore there
are no direct legal implications at this stage.   The results of the consultation will 
be summarised in a further report back to Cabinet.

The report recommends that Cabinet instructs officers to conduct a public 
consultation on proposals to introduce cashless payments in Hackney Carriages.  
The consultation must be undertaken when proposals are at a formative stage, it 
should provide sufficient reasons to enable the consultees to be able to consider 
the proposal and formulate a response.  There will need to be sufficient time to 
for considered responses to be formed, and the outcome of it must be 
conscientiously taken into account when the ultimate decision is taken. 

Similarly due regard must be had to the impact a proposal may have on persons 
with protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010, if any.
Author: Amanda Julian, Legal Services Manager, on the behalf of Simon 
Hill, Head of Governance

28



Glossary of terms/abbreviations used

TfL – Transport for London  

29



Have your say on proposals for paying by credit / debit card in taxis 

Consultation period 20 January 2020 to the 14 February 2020 

Harlow Council is currently consulting on whether passengers should be able to pay for 

journeys in all licensed hackney carriage (London style) taxis by debit or credit card.  

Electronic payment for everyday purchases is increasingly common, and many travellers 

clearly find it more convenient than cash. Furthermore, it might be supposed that some 

potential customers of hackney carriage, happening to be without cash at a time when they 

wished to make a journey, possibly returning home late at night, might perceive that they 

could not pay electronically, and might choose to walk or use some other option that might 

be less safe than a licensed vehicle. There is a case that this could make such potential 

customers more vulnerable than they need be.  

It is important to note that we are not proposing that taxis stop accepting cash payments or 

become ‘cashless’.  If it was decided that passengers should be able to pay by card in all 

licensed taxis then this would be in addition to being able to pay by cash and not a 

replacement for cash payments.   

Please tick as appropriate; 

1. Are you: 

A member of the hackney carriage (taxi) trade 
A member of the private hire trade  
A member of the public  
 

Someone else (please specify) ………………………………………………………………. 
 
 

2. Please indicate your age category: 
 
16-25      26-35 36-45        46-55         56-65           66-70          71+ 
 
 

 

3. Do you think that all licensed taxis (London style cabs) in Harlow should have to offer 
passengers the option of paying by credit or debit card? 

 
   Yes 

   No 

 

4. When do you think any potential new requirement should be introduced? 
 

With immediate effect 

3 month period before taking effect 

6 month period before taking effect 

         During 2021  

         During 2022 

         2023 or later 

 

 

30



Please note: it takes 12 months to fully implement a new condition due to licences renewing 

throughout the calendar year. 

 

5. Should all taxis accept contactless payments in addition to chip and pin? 
 
Yes 

No 

No opinion 

 
6. Should other methods, in addition to Chip and PIN and contactless, of accepting card 

payments be available in taxis?   
 
Yes  

No 

No opinion 

 
6a.       If yes, please specify: ………………………………………………………………… 

 

7. Should the card payment devices in taxis be fixed in one position in the vehicle? 
 
Yes  

No  

No opinion 

 

7a.       If you answered yes to question 7, please specify using the options below:  

 

            Passenger compartment  

            Driver compartment 

Either compartment  

No opinion 

 

8. Should other cards, in addition to MasterCard and Visa, be accepted?   
 
Yes 

No 

No opinion 

 
 

8a.      If yes, please specify examples: …………………………………………………………… 
 

9. Do you think signs should be displayed on the vehicle that identify that card 
payments are accepted? 
 
Yes 

No 

No opinion 

 
10. Do you think that electronic printed receipts should be provided? 

 
Yes 

       No 

No opinion 

 
 

31



11. Should other methods of providing a receipt be made available? Such as e-mail 
receipts or hand written receipts? 
 

Yes 

No 

No opinion 

 

12. Do you think there should be any exemptions from any potential card payment 
mandate? 
 

Yes  

No 

No opinion 

 
12a.     If yes, please specify: ……………………………………………………………………….. 
 
13. Please indicate how often you use taxis (London style hackney carriages) 

 
More than once a day  

Daily  

Weekly  

Monthly  

Less often than monthly 

 

14. If you are a licensed driver then it would be useful to know what equipment you 

currently use?  (please specify make and model) 

 

………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

 

15. Please use the box below to make any relevant comments regarding the proposal.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Personal details (these will not be published) 
 
Name 

Address 

Email 

Telephone 

 

 

32



Please return the questionnaire to licensing@harlow.gov.uk or post to: 

Licensing Department 

Harlow Council 

Civic Centre 

The Water Gardens 

Harlow 

Essex 

CM20 1WG 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

33

mailto:licensing@harlow.gov.uk


Appendix C

Q6a Please specify other methods of payment

Apple/Google pay
Cash
paypal
Phone NFC payments
Apple Pay etc... 
cash
Cash should be an option.
Credit cards
All card and cash options
Pay pal Amex etc.
Cash
Paypal
Cash
any other method
Cash
App based payment e.g. Apple pay
Pay with phones. Such as Apple Pay.
Apple pay
Apple pay
Cash
Paypal, Applepay
e.g. apple pay, android pay
Apple Pay etc.
Cash alternatively for those who use it 
Phone pay
Apple Pay 
Apple pay
Cash
Apple Pay
Cash
Cash
corporate telecard sales
Cash 
Pay Pal. Apple Pay. 
pay pal 
Cash
Cash 
Phone payments
All card, apple and Android payments
Apple pay 
Cash

34



Apple Pay
Apple, google, paypal
Apple pay
apple pay etc
Cash
Cash. Apple pay. Google pay 
Card and cash
Apple pay
payment from phone (apple pay etc)

35



Appendix D

Q8a Examples of other cards

Am Ex
0)
Ones children hold
All cards
Amex
American Express
American Express
American Express 
Amex 
American Express
Amex should ALWAYS be accepted. This outdated rubbish about fees no longer carries 
any weight. 
Monzo, American Express 
All the major cards 
American Express
American express
All credit and debit cards
amex, paypal
I currently accept all major credit cards, Google Pay, Apple Pay and many more.
American Express 
Every payment possible
All credit should be expected.
Amex
Amex
Travel cash cards
All major credit and debit cards Including AMEX

All
apple pay etc 
Both Visa and Mastercard
Amex
Amex 
AMEX
Amex 
American Express
American Express 
American Express, apple pay Maestro etc
Pre paid credit cards

36



Appendix  E

Q12a.  Do you think there should be any exemptions from any potential card payment 
mandate?

take the to a cash point like we have always done
If someone doesn't want to do it
Cash
Debit cards only
£x amount limit - if the fare exceeds this with the first year or so of the introdiction of card paymemt then it must 
be paid in cash however this should be made clear on the interior or exterior of the vehicle  
If the driver doesn't have a bank account for some reason 
I think it should be voluntary and let natural progression dictate as has happened in my time as a taxi driver; 
34 years
It should be freedom of choice
No one should have to have one

37



Appendix F

Q14.  If you are a licensed driver then it would be useful to know what equipment you 
currently use?

There are a number of hand held card machines to use.
Cash only.
PAYPAL HANDHELD DEVICE
I PERSONALLY use a hand held izettle machine 
PayPal 
Sum Up
 No equipment 
I HAVE A SUM CARD READER AND A PAY PAY READER AS BACK UP
As a hackney carriage driver, I use izettle  I email receipts as well as do handwritten ones? I find this to the perfect
tool for the job in my opinion.
Sum 
Izettle chip and pin and contactless
Sumup
SumUp and PayPal 
I use a card reader from a company called SumUp. £30 initial purchase for the reader and 1.7% on transactions 
Sum up card reader
sum up payment card reader, set to transfer sales weekly for ease of use and clarity of bookkeeping.
For the last 5 years I have used iZettle and SumUp without any problems whatsoever. I also have a printer linked 
to the card readers. 
Pay Pal. 
I use a Sum Up device, excellent, qiuck snd very reliable.
Don't understand this question. 
Paypal reader ,worldpay
I use a paypal card machine which i can text or email reciept to customer as well as a hand written reciept
book which is what is the most requested form of reciept by my customers
PayPal cars machine 
Paypal hand held device
Paypal and sum up as back up
Paypal - very happy with system, wouldn't change

38



Appendix G

Q. 15 Please use the box below to make any relevant comments regarding the proposal.

With the decrease of cash machines available to the public and the use of plastic being a popular option to pay for
 everyday essentials now is the time to introduce card payments.
I think this is agreat idea but should be paid for by the council and not the drivers.
The trade needs to move with the times. The public are moving away from cash. The trade needs to provide a
 service to the public and embrace card payments. London Taxis introduced this facility about four years ago 
without  problem and the public can't understand why Harlow Council and the Trade is so far behind the times. This
 is not some new radical payment method but is  something 99% of the population have been using on a daily basis
 for many years. The focus has always been and needs to be on what the Public wants.  I see the Public frustration 
over this matter on a daily basis. 
Although I use a card reader myself I don’t think it should mandatory to all drivers, there are costs involved and 
depending on the amount of work you do this would be a lowering of income.
Although we are here to serve the public we are also here to make a living, if licensing want go and make cards 
mandatory I would like to see what could be done with licensing  working with the Hackney Carriage trade in
Harlow to help encourage the public to use us more, rather than London licensed mini cabs with no ties to the 
Town, after all its a very special service Harlow Town has with a full fleet of wheelchair accessible vehicles.
It should be optional to drive 
i really do think its to early for us to all accept card payments. there is enough card holders on the ranks to cover 
the public. i get maybe one a day with the public coming  up with a card and then i take them to a cash point. with 
the card you dont know wever  theres any money on it some of the others complain they dont get a get good
 connection out side Harlow.so your losing money and things have to be paid. theres no rush for this card machine
 yet theres enough out there with a card machine. we are not a city like London. Thankyou for listening.
Put the customers first they should be telling us how they want to pay, we are offering a service and should not be 
turning fares away. 
Many times passengers don't have money in their account and blame drive for equipment is faulty. Many times 
they make excuses at final destination that they lost wallet and cards. They threaten drive to let them go or they 
will damage the taxi. Many times there are 4 or 5 passengers and they trick on each other to pay by their card and 
eventually run away. Wasting time and journey of driver and giving them threats. There should be an option to ask 
payment upfront whether by card or cash. Many times at final destination/countryside  electronic equipment don't
pick signal and driver left with no option to charge fare.

39



I think it would be beneficial for the trade to  take card payments I also think that for practical reasons hand held
 readers that the driver can move with them from taxi to taxi makes the most sense especially  for drivers that
choose to lease there vehicles or that are supplied to them from insurance companies.
As a hackney carriage driver I can see the trade changing in real time. I believe we need card payments in every 
vehicle for the public's use and the easiest of operation on the rank. I also Strongly recommend that we we are
being supported in Other ways regarding the trade
There are times when there no wi-fi if we force to use payment cards. Who pick up the bill for the day 
This should be implemented immediately so the daily routine of 1st come 1st cab can be used and that no pass the
 passengers about the cabs happens anymore. 
It is Staggering that in this day and age there are still cabs not utilising modern methods of payment. This restricts 
the clientele available to them and leaves gaps for more efficient services like Uber and other minicab providers to
make their mark. Black taxi's will find themselves redundant very soon if they do not adapt. The trend of people
carrying less and less physical cash with them and instead opting for alternative secure methods of electronic 
payment is well known now for many years. People do not like carrying lots of cash or avoid the hassle of having to 
find an appropriate cash point to withdraw cash.
None
Why does Harlow Licensing need to adopt conditions imposed on the London TFL HC trade. Totally unnecessary!  
The Private Hire trade is the largest  between the two passenger trades of HC and PH in Harlow . There is low 
demand by the public for card machine payment. Most customer pay by cash but if necessary request going to a 
ATM machine.   I am a Private Hire driver for ABC Cars I have a Sumup GPS card reader. Since 15/1/20 to 1/2/20 
i've done 76 transactions, totaling £677.50.  I earn more money than a HC driver and I handle many more 
passenger than a HC.
Licensing are cherry picking the TFL condition the want to adopt - Why.? Lets have all HC vehicle in Harlow Electric.
see how that condition goes down with the trade. The use of Card readers should be up to the drivers. If the 
demand is there, I am sure many more drivers will purchase a card reader device. Abc Cars of Harlow has a record 
of drivers that have a card reader and can dispatch a vehicle  equipped with a card reader on request.
Licensing should stop making new condition without proper research into the demand for these conditions in 
Harlow . So forget about the demand in London and concentrate on Harlow. Harlow has a small fleet of HC vehicles
and Licensing seem to want to impose more and more conditions driver, causing increased financial hardship on 
both passenger trades, with little statistical data to justify imposing condition in the first place, Instead Licensing 
make sweeping  fake  comments , relying  on  supposition without facts. 
I did not want to provide an answer to 4  (  When do you think any potential new requirement should be
 introduced?) as I don't  agree on any introduction. However I could not complete the consultation without 
selecting an option I don't agree with. This is a poor consultation and the options are worded to imposing card 
readers on the trade

40



I would potentially use the cabs more if they took card. I work in London and come back on late trains after some
drinks and it would be good to be able to get a black cab without worrying if I have the cash or having to take a
detour to Sainsbury's to get cash really late at night. This costs me more and also makes me feel uneasy about 
getting cash out in a desolate place at night as a female. 

The lifestyle in London is to pay with contactless or chip and pin and therefore cash isn't something that I carry 
anymore. Cabs in harlow are one of the only services that now only accepts cash. And I think you would get more 
service to offset the charge of transactions if card readers could be mandated.

There are also so many different options available now that do not cost lots of money for transactions. 

I would highly recommend this is changed. 
We have to move on like you do in London. Buses don't take money only debit cards. 
The only reason I don't use black cabs is because I rarely have cash. I'd use them more than Uber if it was easier to
 pay.
Accepting card payments is essential to help black cabs survive in this market. Many people including myself do not
carry cash. 
I have be turned away from black taxis countless times due to driver having no device to except card payments. In 
the times we live it is much more sensible not to carry cash so card payments should be available as with London
black taxis.
The licencing authority should pay for the inclusion of card payment systems, receipts etc, if introduced. Most taxi 
drivers i know struggle to make a living without putting more costs to them.  Do buses have card payments if not 
then licenced cabs should not as both are public services.
Taxis and mini cabs should not be segregated and if cards are introduced in one it should be introduced in all. 
Your question which is required to answer....when should  this be implemented indicates this has been decided as
there is no option to not tick a date to implement.
not sure why need to to ask us and it is not upto the independent taxi.  
It's time the cabs provided this more convenient option for their customers.
A great idea 
Would be great for people who thinkbthey woukd have to walk home or to town to get some cash out to then get
a taxi from there.
Card payments are accepted in every major city. Many oeople no longer carry cash. Time to catch up.

41



I think this would also help prevent cabbies from not declaring their takings as card payments would have to go 
through the books. I also think it's important to not charge for card payments as a minimum price for a ride is 
already set
All black cabs in London and Uber offer an electronic way of paying. Black cabs in Harlow should be no different 
Good idea - put into practice as soon as pos.
As a pensioner I very rarely have cash on me so card payment would be ideal and encourage me to use black cabs... 
Harlow permit HC licenced by other authorities to operate in Harlow how can you enforce this on all Taxis in Harlow
I'm surprised this is even being asked. I haven't been in a black cab that didn't accept cards and if i knew one i was 
about to get in, didn't have it, i would refused to board and wait for another. This is 2020 and backwards, 
belligerent cabbies who just want to cream off cash (and probably not declare it all) should be a thing of the past!
It's 2020. The fact that card payments are not fully available is ludicrous.
I think it would prevent potentially vulnerable people walking home... meaning people would be safer. It also 
means more business for the cabbies, rather than Uber. Black cabs need to diversify in this day and age, and this 
seems like an easy win to be... benefits everyone. Fingers crossed. 
We all know why the drivers don't want card payments don't we. They'll have to declare all earnings to the tax man. Drag the drivers into the 21st century and make it a mandatory condition of their licence to take 
card payments.
Having contactless and chip and pin would make taxi use so much more accessible and safer for the public too 
Time to catch up with the rest of the world !
Everywhere and everyone else accepts card payments why not Harlow Taxis ?
I don't care how they provide it butidont often carry cash and it's stressful never knowing if you can get taxi when
 get off train or if they take it or not.
Great idea for an age in which not many people carry cash anymore 
When I travel home from London I do not always have cash and trying to find a taxi that will take my card is quite 
traumatic and I have in the past been left behind. I have been offered to be taken to a cashpoint but I am elderly 
and just want to get home if it's late. If I could just go to the first taxi and be sure that card is accepted I would feel 
much happier.
As a PH driver I have noticed that more and more customers wish to pay by card. I am of the older generation 
where we only used our cards for big purchases but this has changed. The younger generation use cards for very 
small transactions. 
Card readers are now very cheap and the transaction costs are low

I pay 1.7% per transaction. So the fee on a £10 fare would be a small 17p. 

42



I don't think it should be mandatory for every cab/taxi to take card payments. There are already more than enough
 drivers that accept card payments should the customer need tovpay this way all they have to do is inform the staff
 when booking the cab and then can do so. Making it mandatory is just another unnecessary requirement that 
would be added to our licensing requirements which always ends up costing us more money as drivers.
If card payment is not standardised amongst taxis, then all modes of payment prevalent to that drivers cab should 
be advertised prominently on the exterior of the cab.
It is a fact now that worldwide more than 50% of all financial transactions are digital, ATM's are on the decline and 
large numbers of the travelling public do not carry cash. There can be no good reason for not taking card payments
 as the initial outlay is low, around £25 for a card reader, and no ongoing subscriptions and transaction fees are 
around 1.75%. All that is required in addition is a smart or android phone and a bank account. Receipt printers
should be optional as they can easily be sent via text or e-mail, or written. If required a small fare increase, say 20p
per journey, would easily counter the additional costs. Following the example of London, where it is mandatory for
taxis to take card payments, the public expect/presume that all taxis take card payments and this presumption is 
causing more and more problems, especially for commuters travelling to and from London via the railway station,
 who are often left chasing from taxi to taxi trying to find one that takes card, and on occasions there are none. 
This is the 21st Century and it is vital that we as a trade need to move on, modernise and provide a consistent 
forward thinking service in order to try to compete with the ever growing, innovative competition threatening our 
very existence.
In this day and age this methid of payment should most definitely be available.
Black Taxis are offering  a service and it should  be the customers choice on how to pay. We are more of a cashless 
society todayand we need to move with  the times. Too many  customers are being turned away from Black taxis 
who are cash only which is embarrassing and not good for the trade. 
I have had cash stolen in the past, so I don't like carrying it with me. I only ever have my card for the worry of 
getting mugged. I know many people who feel the same. 
My daughter was stranded at Harlow town station as she only had her card and no cash. She has also be asked 
where she is going before the driver said whether he took card or not. This is not right!
Put card payment in cabs but only to be used over a certain amount of distance as the cab drivers will not benift 
from the pickups he/she does in a day's work 
This would make it easier to use Taxi's in Harlow. There has been an occasion when I was told to get out of the taxi
 to climb over a small wall into a garage and get change. I had £10 note and the fare was about £8-£9. I was on my 
own and it was not in a very built up area so I felt very Vulnerable. I now no longer use the Taxi company and use a
 different one. 
This proposal is standard practice in London. Don't understand why a consultation is needed for what should be a 
usual thing. Card or cash to suit the passenger 

43



Card payments would make the drivers less likely to be robbed if they are carrying less cash.
Should keep them inline with other private hire choices
In this day and age not many people carry cash
I use taxes often. And uber. I stopped using black cabs because they DONT offer paying by card. I dont carry cash 
usually, so I use Uber atleast twice a week. 
I use Harlow black cabs regularly when working late and coming home from central London.  I am often concerned 
that there may not be a cab that accepts cards, as I don't always carry cash.  I have a regular driver who does accept
 cards, and this makes a huge difference.  Taking card will benefit a lot of people, and enhance safety.  
At present more likely to use Uber because of the card payments but would rather be giving my money to black cab
drivers.
Very rarely carry cash 
Scheme should be same as London. No option to opt out
I feel there is only a demand for card payments when at the train station. The town centre ranks there is very rarely
demand for card payment. So the actual demand for the entire town needs to be taken into consideration not just
the demand at the train station.
Its 2020 and the majority of our customers now wish to pay via card. Black Taxis are there to serve the public not 
themselves. 
I've heard of many drivers that reach destination and card declined or no signal
I understand that the trade have been pushing for this.  I put it to the trade that there are more pressing things to 
sort out.
I am very happy with the system I use in providing the public a means of paying by card facility offering both 
contactless and chip and pin.  I would be totally against being told what system to use and I believe it should be
drivers choice if they offer the service.  I would be against a fixed machine.  
Some of the questions are absolutely ridiculous in my opinion.  If you were to ask members of the public if they
want more of something, the answer will always be yes.  As with council budgets we will do as we think necessary 
within our budget.  The question not asked to the public, are you willing to pay extra for credit card facility, 
because for us it is not free.  The trade has not had a tariff increase in 5 years, why do you think that is? let me tell 
you, we do not want to lose customers, and stay competitive.  There is never a mention from the Hackney Carriage
 Licensing Dept about combating out of town cabs using Harlow (cross border hiring) no checks, nothing, and you 
know it happens daily, no mention of UBER, the damage done by the affor mentioned is a massive impact on your 
patch.  How about helping our trade as I've said in the questionnaire, credit card facility should be voluntary and 
let natural progression dictate, as had happened in my 35 yrs in the trade.  
Harlow Council should be looking at ways to stop cross border hiring.  The ones on ABC & Metro are not x border 
hiring they are the circuits

44



Council should not enforce all drivers to accept card payments.  It should be by choice- card payment has 
transaction fees between 2.5% - 2.9% which would be taken from my earnings, this would increase my running 
costs.

Working until the last train.  In your scenario passengers can be taken to a cash point (no extra cost) or can hire a 
licensed private hire at their office 100yd from taxi rank; card payments in office.  A democratic vote to all have 
card facilities or not would be helpful- respecting the out come result.  Out of town work, poor signal in Country 
areas making payment difficult.

I only get 1 or 2 people come up to me in a day and then I take them to the cash point.  There is not a great demand
 yet because we are only Harlow not London.  The signal for the card machines dose not work some times around 
here so you don't get paid.  The citys have better signals.  2 or 3 years time for the card machine would be suitable.
Thank you

I feel this is beneficial to safeguarding the general public.  General public already used to card payments if travelling
 to / from London.  Hackney carriage drivers picking / choosing jobs.  Unfair on drivers who accept cards getting 
stuck with multiply cards on trott.  Non card payment driver making big deal over whos fare is whos / shouting / 
intimidating other drivers, making passengers change viecles multply times.

45



REPORT TO: LICENSING COMMITTEE

DATE: 10 MARCH 2020 

TITLE: AMENDMENTS TO LICENSING COMMITTEE 
TERMS OF REFERENCE

LEAD OFFICERS: ANDREW BRAMIDGE, HEAD OF ENVIRONMENT 
AND PLANNING (01279) 446410

SIMON HILL, HEAD OF GOVERNANCE 
(01279) 446099

CONTRIBUTING 
OFFICERS:

AMANDA JULIAN, LEGAL SERVICES MANAGER 
(01279) 446072

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND LICENSING 
MANAGER (01279) 446114

ADAM REES, GOVERNANCE SUPPORT OFFICER 
(01279) 446057

RECOMMENDED that:

A The Licensing Committee recommends to Full Council that the revised Licensing 
Committee, Licensing Sub Committee and Regulatory Sub CommitteeTerms of 
Reference (attached as Appendix A to the report) are adopted.

BACKGROUND

1. The Council is required to establish a committee to deal with statutory functions 
under the Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005. The Council has 
established the Licensing Committee and the Licensing Sub Committee to fulfil 
this purpose.

2. The Committee and Sub Committee also deal with a number of regulatory 
functions. There are a wide range of regulatory functions which fall under its 
remit, including consideration of matters relating to hackney carriage and private 
hire licences.

ISSUES/PROPOSALS

3. The Institute of Licensing has issued guidance which recommends that the 
statutory and regulatory functions are clearly separated. It needs to be clear 
whether the Council is discharging statutory or regulatory functions at any given 
time.

46

Agenda Item 9



4. The Committee’s and Sub Committee’s terms of reference do not currently 
distinguish between the statutory and regulatory functions. Therefore, the 
governance arrangements need to be altered in order to comply with the 
guidance.

5. There are two options available for achieving this separation. Under both options 
there is not an increased workload for Councillors. They will carry out the same 
work, but under a more clearly divided governance arrangement.

Option 1 – Separate Committees and Sub Committees

6. Under this option the Council would establish a Licensing Committee and a 
Licensing Sub Committee to discharge its statutory functions. The Council then 
establishes a Regulatory Committee and Regulatory Sub Committee to 
discharge its regulatory functions.

7. This achieves the clearest separation of functions as the different types of 
functions fall under separate committees. They can all have the same 
membership and meetings can be scheduled to avoid extra meeting dates. For 
example, the Licensing Committee can convene at 7.30pm, with the Regulatory 
Committee convened to start once the Licensing Committee has finished.

Option 2 – Combined Committee with Separate Sub Committees

8. The second option is to more effectively separate the statutory and regulatory 
functions with the terms of reference of one committee. The agenda can also 
then be separated into two sections: one dealing with statutory functions; and 
one dealing with regulatory functions.

9. This approach does not create the added administrative hurdle of having two 
separate Committee agendas whilst ensuring that functions carried out at Sub 
Committee meetings are clearly separated.

10. It is therefore recommended that Option 2 is advanced and the terms of 
reference attached as Appendix A to the report are recommended to Full 
Council for adoption.

11. The revised terms of reference clearly separate the functions by including 
statutory functions under the terms of reference of the Licensing Sub Committee 
and regulatory functions under the terms of reference of the Regulatory Sub 
Committee.

IMPLICATIONS

Environment and Planning (Includes Sustainability)
As set out in the report.
Author: Andrew Bramidge, Head of Environment and Planning

47



Finance (Includes ICT, and Property and Facilities)
None specific.
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance and Deputy to the Chief Executive

Housing
None specific.
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing

Community Wellbeing (Includes Equalities and Social Inclusion)
None specific.
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing

Governance (Includes HR)
The changes to the constitution to have separate Regulatory and Licensing Sub-
Committees will more clearly demonstrate that the Council is compliant with its 
statutory and regulatory duties under the licensing regimes.  By implementing these 
changes the Council is significantly reducing the risk of challenge to its decision 
making process.
Author: Simon Hill, Head of Governance

Appendices

Appendix A – Amended Terms of Reference

Background Papers

None.

Glossary of terms/abbreviations used

None.

48



LICENSING COMMITTEE

Terms of reference

Functions relating to statutory licensing and registrable functions  and health and 
safety.

Terms of delegation 

1. Except in relation to the Statement of Licensing Policy, to discharge all functions 
conferred upon the Council as a licensing authority under the Licensing Act 2003, 
including responsibility for licensing the sale and supply of alcohol, the provision 
of regulated entertainment and late night refreshment.

2. Except in relation to the Statement of Licensing Policy, to discharge all functions 
conferred upon the Council as a licensing authority under the Gambling Act 2005.

3. The enforcement of trading requirements relating to the sale of goods and 
opening hours of shops and other premises and the issue of licences, consents 
and/or registrations as appropriate.

4. To progress actions arising from the Crime & Disorder Strategy which may be 
referred to it for consideration.

5. The delegation of functions to the statutory Licencing Sub-Committee and/or 
officers of the Council.

6. Any other matters relating to the statutory licensing function of the Council acting 
as the Licensing Authority that may be referred to it or its Sub-Committee.

7. Any other matters relating to licensing which may be referred to it.

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE

Terms of Reference

Function to consider any matters referred to it by the Licensing Committee or 
Officers in relation to functions conferred upon the Council as The Licensing 
Authority.

Terms of Delegation

1. Except in relation to the Statement of Licensing Policy to discharge all functions 
conferred upon the Council as The Licensing Authority where:

49



(a) Applications on which objections have been received in the stipulated time 
span, which cannot be resolved through negotiation or the imposition of 
conditions supported by Officers.

(b) Applications submitted by or on behalf of any Councillor, their spouse or 
partner or any officer of the Council their spouse or partner.

(c) Any other matter that officers believe should rightly be referred for a 
decision to be made.

2. To progress actions arising from the Crime & Disorder Strategy that may be 
referred to it for consideration.

3. To report on an annual basis to Full Council decisions taken.

4. Any other matters relating to the functions of the Licensing Authority that may be 
referred to it.

Membership

The membership of each Licensing Sub Committee meeting will comprise of three 
Members of the Licensing Committee.

REGULATORY SUB COMMITTEE

Terms of Reference

Functions: relating to licencing and regulatory functions (in so far as not covered by 
any other Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council).

Terms of Delegation:

1. To discharge the functions of the Council in regard to its’ licensable and 
registration functions bar those conferred on the Licensing Committee and Sub-
Committee [above].

 
2. The enforcement of trading requirements relating to the sale of goods, opening 

hours of premises and/or shops, issue of licences, consents and/or registrations 
as appropriate including but not limited to the enforcement of the following:

(a) Hackney carriages and private hire vehicles, including their drivers, 
operators and vehicle inspections; 

(b) pet shops, riding establishments, boarding kennels and catteries, dog 
breeding establishments, zoos and keepers of dangerous wild animals; 

(c) ear piercing, acupuncture, electrolysis and tattooing; 

50



(d) sex establishments; 

(e) street trading; 

(f) pavement permits (Highways Act 1980); 

(g) charity street collections and house-to-house collections; 

(h) camping and caravan sites; 

(i) motor salvage operators and scrap metal dealers; and 

(j) game dealers. 

(k) markets

3. To progress actions arising from the Crime & Disorder Strategy that may be 
referred to it for consideration.

 
4. To report on an annual basis to Full Council decisions taken.

5. Any other matters relating to licensing which may be referred to it.

Membership

The membership of each Regulatory Sub Committee meeting will comprise of three 
Members of the Licensing Committee.

51


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Committee Work Plan
	7 Private Hire Operator Conditions and the Provisions of Adapted Vehicles (Subject to National Guidance)
	8 Electronic Payment of Fares in Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles - Outcome of Consultation
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix  E
	Appendix F
	Appendix G

	9 Updated Licensing Committee Terms of Reference
	Appendix A - Revised Licensing ToR


